
235 

Occupational Safety and Health Admin., Labor § 1979.102 

Subpart A—Complaints, Investiga-
tions, Findings and Preliminary 
Orders 

§ 1979.100 Purpose and scope. 
(a) This part implements procedures 

under section 519 of the Wendell H. 
Ford Aviation Investment and Reform 
Act for the 21st Century, 49 U.S.C. 42121 
(‘‘AIR21’’), which provides for employee 
protection from discrimination by air 
carriers or contractors or subcontrac-
tors of air carriers because the em-
ployee has engaged in protected activ-
ity pertaining to a violation or alleged 
violation of any order, regulation, or 
standard of the Federal Aviation Ad-
ministration or any other provision of 
Federal law relating to air carrier safe-
ty. 

(b) This part establishes procedures 
pursuant to AIR21 for the expeditious 
handling of discrimination complaints 
made by employees, or by persons act-
ing on their behalf. These rules, to-
gether with those rules codified at 29 
CFR part 18, set forth the procedures 
for submission of complaints under 
AIR21, investigations, issuance of find-
ings and preliminary orders, objections 
to findings and orders, litigation before 
administrative law judges, post-hear-
ing administrative review, and with-
drawals and settlements. 

§ 1979.101 Definitions. 
Act or AIR21 means section 519 of the 

Wendell H. Ford Aviation Investment 
and Reform Act for the 21st Century, 
Public Law 106–181, April 5, 2000, 49 
U.S.C. 42121. 

Air carrier means a citizen of the 
United States undertaking by any 
means, directly or indirectly, to pro-
vide air transportation. 

Assistant Secretary means the Assist-
ant Secretary of Labor for Occupa-
tional Safety and Health or the person 
or persons to whom he or she delegates 
authority under the Act. 

Complainant means the employee who 
filed a complaint under the Act or on 
whose behalf a complaint was filed. 

Contractor means a company that 
performs safety-sensitive functions by 
contract for an air carrier. 

Employee means an individual pres-
ently or formerly working for an air 
carrier or contractor or subcontractor 

of an air carrier, an individual applying 
to work for an air carrier or contractor 
or subcontractor of an air carrier, or 
an individual whose employment could 
be affected by an air carrier or con-
tractor or subcontractor of an air car-
rier. 

Named person means the person al-
leged to have violated the Act. 

OSHA means the Occupational Safety 
and Health Administration of the 
United States Department of Labor. 

Person means one or more individ-
uals, partnerships, associations, cor-
porations, business trusts, legal rep-
resentatives, or any group of persons. 

Secretary means the Secretary of 
Labor or persons to whom authority 
under the Act has been delegated. 

§ 1979.102 Obligations and prohibited 
acts. 

(a) No air carrier or contractor or 
subcontractor of an air carrier may 
discharge any employee or otherwise 
discriminate against any employee 
with respect to the employee’s com-
pensation, terms, conditions, or privi-
leges of employment because the em-
ployee, or any person acting pursuant 
to the employee’s request, engaged in 
any of the activities specified in para-
graphs (b)(1) through (4) of this section. 

(b) It is a violation of the Act for any 
air carrier or contractor or subcon-
tractor of an air carrier to intimidate, 
threaten, restrain, coerce, blacklist, 
discharge or in any other manner dis-
criminate against any employee be-
cause the employee has: 

(1) Provided, caused to be provided, 
or is about to provide (with any knowl-
edge of the employer) or cause to be 
provided to the air carrier or con-
tractor or subcontractor of an air car-
rier or the Federal Government, infor-
mation relating to any violation or al-
leged violation of any order, regula-
tion, or standard of the Federal Avia-
tion Administration or any other pro-
vision of Federal law relating to air 
carrier safety under subtitle VII of 
title 49 of the United States Code or 
under any other law of the United 
States; 

(2) Filed, caused to be filed, or is 
about to file (with any knowledge of 
the employer) or cause to be filed a 
proceeding relating to any violation or 
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alleged violation of any order, regula-
tion, or standard of the Federal Avia-
tion Administration or any other pro-
vision of Federal law relating to air 
carrier safety under subtitle VII of 
title 49 of the United States Code, or 
under any other law of the United 
States; 

(3) Testified or is about to testify in 
such a proceeding; or 

(4) Assisted or participated or is 
about to assist or participate in such a 
proceeding. 

(c) This part shall have no applica-
tion to any employee of an air carrier, 
contractor, or subcontractor who, act-
ing without direction from an air car-
rier, contractor, or subcontractor (or 
such person’s agent) deliberately 
causes a violation of any requirement 
relating to air carrier safety under 
Subtitle VII Aviation Programs of 
Title 49 of the United States Code or 
any other law of the United States. 

§ 1979.103 Filing of discrimination 
complaint. 

(a) Who may file. An employee who 
believes that he or she has been dis-
criminated against by an air carrier or 
contractor or subcontractor of an air 
carrier in violation of the Act may file, 
or have filed by any person on the em-
ployee’s behalf, a complaint alleging 
such discrimination. 

(b) Nature of filing. No particular 
form of complaint is required, except 
that a complaint must be in writing 
and should include a full statement of 
the acts and omissions, with pertinent 
dates, which are believed to constitute 
the violations. 

(c) Place of filing. The complaint 
should be filed with the OSHA Area Di-
rector responsible for enforcement ac-
tivities in the geographical area where 
the employee resides or was employed, 
but may be filed with any OSHA officer 
or employee. Addresses and telephone 
numbers for these officials are set forth 
in local directories and at the fol-
lowing Internet address: http:// 
www.osha.gov. 

(d) Time for filing. Within 90 days 
after an alleged violation of the Act oc-
curs (i.e., when the discriminatory de-
cision has been both made and commu-
nicated to the complainant), an em-
ployee who believes that he or she has 

been discriminated against in violation 
of the Act may file, or have filed by 
any person on the employee’s behalf, a 
complaint alleging such discrimina-
tion. The date of the postmark, fac-
simile transmittal, or e-mail commu-
nication will be considered to be the 
date of filing; if the complaint is filed 
in person, by hand-delivery, or other 
means, the complaint is filed upon re-
ceipt. 

(e) Relationship to section 11(c) com-
plaints. A complaint filed under AIR21 
that alleges facts which would con-
stitute a violation of section 11(c) of 
the Occupational Safety and Health 
Act, 29 U.S.C. 660(c), shall be deemed to 
be a complaint filed under both AIR21 
and section 11(c). Similarly, a com-
plaint filed under section 11(c) that al-
leges facts that would constitute a vio-
lation of AIR21 shall be deemed to be a 
complaint filed under both AIR21 and 
section 11(c). Normal procedures and 
timeliness requirements for investiga-
tions under the respective laws and 
regulations will be followed. 

§ 1979.104 Investigation. 

(a) Upon receipt of a complaint in the 
investigating office, the Assistant Sec-
retary will notify the named person of 
the filing of the complaint, of the alle-
gations contained in the complaint, 
and of the substance of the evidence 
supporting the complaint (redacted to 
protect the identity of any confidential 
informants). The Assistant Secretary 
will also notify the named person of his 
or her rights under paragraphs (b) and 
(c) of this section and paragraph (e) of 
§ 1979.110. A copy of the notice to the 
named person will also be provided to 
the Federal Aviation Administration. 

(b) A complaint of alleged violation 
will be dismissed unless the complain-
ant has made a prima facie showing 
that protected behavior or conduct was 
a contributing factor in the unfavor-
able personnel action alleged in the 
complaint. 

(1) The complaint, supplemented as 
appropriate by interviews of the com-
plainant, must allege the existence of 
facts and evidence to make a prima 
facie showing as follows: 

(i) The employee engaged in a pro-
tected activity or conduct; 

VerDate Mar<15>2010 09:51 Sep 11, 2012 Jkt 226119 PO 00000 Frm 00246 Fmt 8010 Sfmt 8010 Y:\SGML\226119.XXX 226119w
re

ie
r-

av
ile

s 
on

 D
S

K
5T

P
T

V
N

1P
R

O
D

 w
ith

 C
F

R


		Superintendent of Documents
	2012-09-24T14:38:20-0400
	US GPO, Washington, DC 20401
	Superintendent of Documents
	GPO attests that this document has not been altered since it was disseminated by GPO




